THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2016-000823

James LivingstonPetitioner

v.

State of South Carolina.....Respondent

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ROBERT W. MILLS
1728 Main Street
Columbia, SC29201
(803)252-9648
ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. DID THE PCR COURT ERR BY DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION FOR PCR WHERE THE TRIAL ATTORNEY FAILED TO INVESTIGATE THE FACT THAT THE SOLE IDENTIFYING WITNESS IN TWO OF APPLICANT'S CASES WAS DECEASED AT THE TIME OF THE PLEA?
2. DID THE PCR COURT ERR BY DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION FOR PCR WHERE THE TRIAL ATTORNEY FAILED TO PROPERLY ADVISE THE APPLICANT CONCERNING THE LAW CONCERNING AN ENTRAPMENT DEFENSE AND DOMINION AND CONTROL ?
3. DID THE PCR COURT ERR BY DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION FOR PCR WHERE THE TRIAL ATTORNEY FAILED TO PROPERLY ADVISE APPLICANT OF THE POTENTIAL LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE SENTENCE?
4. DID THE PCR COURT ERR BY DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION FOR PCR WHERE THE PROBATION COURT FAILED TO INQUIRE WITH THE APPLICANT FULLY CONCERNING SELF REPRESENTATION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is presently confined in the Wateree River Correctional Institution of the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Lexington County Clerk of Court. The Petitioner was indicted for Trafficking in Cocaine (2008-GS-32-2647) and two counts of Distribution of Cocaine Base 3d of subsequent offense (2006-GS-32-0170 & 0172). On April 13, 2009, the Petitioner pleaded guilty before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson to both counts of Distribution of Cocaine Base-3d or subsequent offense and to lesser offense of Distribution of Cocaine-3d or subsequent offense and Petitioner was sentenced to three concurrent terms of eighteen years each. App.pp. 2-21. On May 22, 2009, Petitioner appeared without counsel before the Honorable Knox McMahan where his previous probation case was heard pursuant to a probation violation. Judge McMahan revoked a portion the probationary sentences to run concurrent to the aforementioned charges and sentence. App.pp 26-28.

Petitioner subsequently filed an Application for Post-Conviction Relief which was filed on October 28, 2009. App.pp.30-35. A Return was filed by Respondent on March 16, 2010. App.pp. 38-40. An Addendum to the Application for Post-Conviction Relief was filed on May 16, 2011. App.pp.43-45. An evidentiary hearing was held on August 16, 2013 before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson at the Lexington County Courthouse. App.pp. 46-117. The Petitioner testified at the hearing that there were two sets of drug charges pending against him at the time of his plea: a West Columbia case and a SLED case. App p. 52 ll 14-19. Petitioner also had a separate probation violation hearing at which Petitioner appeared without counsel and without being warned of the dangers of self representation. App. P. 53 ll. 4-18. Petitioner was represented by Joshua Kendrick for the pending drug charges. Petitioner testified that a confidential informant who was involved in

two of the cases was deceased at the time of his guilty plea. App. p. 56 ll 3-25, p. 57 ll 1-25, p. 58 ll. 1-22. Petitioner further testified that in the SLED case the video that trial attorney played had no working audio. App. p. 65 ll 1-7. Since there was no audio, Petitioner told the trial counsel that basis of the transaction was "that the confidential informant supplied me with the drugs and came back and purchased some of the same drugs and turned them over to SLED". App.p. 65 ll 14-18. Trial attorney then told Petitioner that he was not entitled to an entrapment defense due to his prior record. App.p. 65 ll. 22-25. As to whether he had dominion and control over the alleged drugs, Petitioner testified that he did not. App.p. 66 ll 5-14.

Petitioner further testified that trial counsel informed him that he could be facing a Life Without Parole sentence if he did not accept the plea offer. App p 81 ll 7-25. However, there was never a notice to seek Life Without Parole served on the defendant or his counsel by the State. App p 82 ll 6-9. When asked if he would have pled guilty if he was not facing Life Without Parole, Petitioner stated that he would not. App.p.82, ll16-18.

The Circuit Court issued an Order of Dismissal which was dated May 13th 2015 and received by counsel for Petitioner on June 2, 2015. Petitioner timely filed a Motion to Alter Judgment Pursuant to SCRCF 59 (e), a Motion for a New Trial Pursuant to SCRCF 59(a) and a Motion for Relief from Judgment or Order Pursuant to SCRCF 60(b)(1) and (2) on June 12, 2015. App.pp.134-145. On February 1, 2016, Respondent served and filed Returns to the three motions of the Petitioner. App.pp. 146-159. The Order of the Circuit Court denied the three motions of the Petitioner. App. pp.160-162. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed by the Petitioner. This Petition for Writ of Certiorari followed.

ARGUMENTS

1. THE PCR COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION FOR PCR WHERE THE TRIAL ATTORNEY FAILED TO INVESTIGATE THE FACT THAT THE SOLE IDENTIFYING WITNESS IN TWO OF APPLICANT'S CASES WAS DECEASED AT THE TIME OF THE PLEA.

The PCR court erred by denying the Petitioner's Application for PCR based on ineffective assistance of counsel since Petitioner proved that trial counsel was deficient in his representation and that this deficiency prejudiced the Petitioner. Probative evidence was presented at the PCR hearing and this evidence supports the allegations that Petitioner received ineffective assistance of counsel. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, Petitioner must satisfy the two prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). "First, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, [t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989)(internal citations omitted). "The second prong of the Strickland test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The defendant is required to overcome the presumption that counsel was effective in order to receive relief." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (internal citations omitted).

Applicant testified at the PCR hearing that a confidential informant, the sole identifying witness for the State in the two West Columbia cases (2006-GS-32-0170 and -0172), was deceased at the time of Petitioner's plea and that trial counsel should have discovered this fact through a proper investigation. App. p. 56 ll 3-25, p. 57 ll 1-25, p. 58 ll. 1-22. Petitioner entered the death certificate of the confidential informant into evidence. App. p. 57 ll 8-25, p.58 ll 1-15, Exhibit 1,p. 119. The Petitioner submits that this court ultimately find that trial counsel was deficient for not

investigating the lack of availability of the only eyewitness who was actually deceased before Petitioner's guilty plea. "While the scope of a reasonable investigation depends upon a number of issues, at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case". Lounds v. State, 380 S.C. 454, 670 S.E.2d 646 (2008). Furthermore, Petitioner contends that this deficiency created prejudice since the State could not have proceeded with its prosecution without this unavailable witness since the only identifying evidence would have been from the unavailable witness and the introduction of other evidence would have violated the hearsay rule. See Ezell v. State, 345 S.C. 312, 548 S.E.2d 852 (S.C., 2001). "A criminal defense attorney has the duty to conduct a reasonable investigation to discover all reasonably available mitigation evidence and all reasonable available evidence tending to rebut any aggravating evidence introduced by the State." McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 46, 661 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2008). Mr. Livingston further testified that he would not have pleaded guilty if he had known that the witness was dead. App. p.62 ll 1-10. Also, a suppression hearing should have been requested by plea counsel in order to have this issue brought before the court. Therefore, Petitioner submits that the denial of relief in the case at hand should be reversed and the Application for Post Conviction Relief should be granted.

2. THE PCR COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION FOR PCR WHERE THE TRIAL ATTORNEY FAILED TO PROPERLY ADVISE THE APPLICANT CONCERNING THE LAW CONCERNING AN ENTRAPMENT DEFENSE AND DOMINION AND CONTROL.

The PCR court erred by denying the Petitioner's Application for PCR based on ineffective assistance of counsel since Petitioner proved that trial counsel was deficient in his representation and that this deficiency prejudiced the Petitioner. Probative evidence was presented at the PCR hearing and this evidence supports the allegations that Petitioner received ineffective assistance of counsel.

The Petitioner further testified that in the SLED case that he explained to trial counsel that the confidential informant had given him drugs to hold for a temporary period of time and over which he had no dominion and control to do anything with the substances except return them to the rightful owner. He testified that he had no right to do anything with the drugs. App.p. 65 ll 12-18. The Petitioner further testified that trial counsel stated that he did not have a valid entrapment defense due to his criminal record. App. p 65 ll 19-25. Conviction for two prior drug offenses alone is insufficient to establish that the defendant was predisposed to sell illegal drugs. See U.S. v. Brooks, 215 F.3d 842 (8th Cir. 2000) and Sherman v. United States, 356 U.S. 369 (1958) "The affirmative defense of entrapment is available where there is the `conception and planning of an offense by an officer, and his procurement of its commission by one who would not have perpetrated it except for trickery, persuasion, or fraud of the officer.'" State v. Johnson, 295 S.C. 215, 216, 367 S.E.2d 700, 701 (1988) In this case, the informant was acting as an agent of the government in order to trick and defraud the Petitioner into possessing the drugs. Also, trial counsel did not produce the audio portion of the video in order for the Petitioner to hear its contents. App. p 65 ll 1-7. Clearly, since the Petitioner did not have full dominion and control over the drugs and was only returning the drugs to the person who actually owned the drugs and was tricked and defrauded by the government

agent, trial counsel should have informed the Petitioner of the potential defense of entrapment and the defense of lack of possession. According to the Petitioner, if the Petitioner had heard the audio portion of the videotape he would have had further reasons to raise the defenses of entrapment due to the government agent's trickery and/or lack of possession since he had no dominion and control over the illegal substances. Also, a suppression hearing should have been requested by plea counsel in order to have these issues brought before the court. Petitioner contends that he would have not been in possession of the alleged drugs at all but for the government's informant and agent. The implication from Petitioner's testimony is that it was all orchestrated to entrap him for a crime and was put together by the government through the informant. Therefore, it was an unconstitutional act by the government and it violated the due process rights of the Petitioner. There was not a rebuttal of the evidence of entrapment by the government by any witnesses or other evidence. The Petitioner submits that the government should not be able to rely on the fact that the alleged drugs were in Petitioner's possession after having knowledge that they were given to the Petitioner by the government informant agent. Petitioner submits through his testimony that the case was brought at the instigation of the government which violated the rights of the Petitioner. And the prior record of the Petitioner alone is insufficient to establish that the defendant was predisposed to sell illegal drugs. See U.S. v. Brooks, 215 F.3d 842 (8th Cir. 2000) and Sherman v. United States, 356 U.S. 369 (1958). Petitioner submits that this court ultimately find that trial counsel was deficient for not fully informing the Petitioner of all of the facts of the case and, in addition, failing to adequately inform the Petitioner of the available defenses. Petitioner further requests that this court find that Petitioner was prejudiced by these deficiencies since the Petitioner would have raised these defenses at a jury trial and he would not have pled guilty had he been properly advised of his legal defenses.

Therefore, Petitioner submits that the denial of relief in the case at hand should be reversed and the Application for Post Conviction Relief should be granted.

3. THE PCR COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION FOR PCR WHERE THE TRIAL ATTORNEY FAILED TO PROPERLY ADVISE APPLICANT OF THE POTENTIAL LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE SENTENCE.

The PCR court erred by denying the Petitioner's Application for PCR based on ineffective assistance of counsel since Petitioner proved that trial counsel was deficient in his representation and that this deficiency prejudiced the Petitioner. Probative evidence was presented at the PCR hearing and this evidence supports the allegations that Petitioner received ineffective assistance of counsel.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified that trial counsel informed him that he could be facing a Life Without Parole sentence if he did not accept the plea offer. App p 81 ll 7-25. However, a notice to seek Life Without Parole was never served on the defendant or his counsel by the State. App p 82 ll 6-9. The Petitioner testified that he would not have pled guilty if he was not looking at Life Without Parole. App.p.82, ll16-18. Also, the charges to which Petitioner pleaded did not carry the possibility of life without parole. Trial counsel was deficient in advising the Applicant this wrong information and that deficiency prejudiced the Petitioner since he would not have pled guilty but for this erroneous advice. "If a petitioner successfully proves his or her guilty plea was based on inaccurate sentencing advice from counsel, the deficiency prong has been satisfied." Alexander v. State, 303 S.C. 539, 542, 402 S.E.2d 484, 485 (1991). Under the second step of the inquiry, the prejudice prong "focuses on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process." Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985). "In other words, in order to satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the [petitioner] must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." Id. To meet this burden, the petitioner need only testify that had plea counsel not misinformed him of the potential sentence, he would not have pled guilty. Alexander, 303 S.C. at

543, 402 S.E.2d at 485-86. In the instant case, Petitioner testified that he would not have pled guilty if he had been informed correctly of the potential sentence. App p. 82 ll 16-18. Therefore, the Petitioner was prejudiced by plea counsel's misinformation. Petitioner submits that this court should ultimately find that trial counsel was deficient for misinforming the Petitioner that he was facing life without parole when he was not. Petitioner further submits that this court ultimately find that Applicant was prejudiced by these deficiencies since the Petitioner would not have pled guilty if he had not been misinformed about a life without parole sentence. Therefore, Petitioner submits that the denial of relief in the case at hand should be reversed and the Application for Post Conviction Relief should be granted.

4. THE PCR COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE PETITIONER'S APPLICATION FOR PCR WHERE THE PROBATION COURT FAILED TO INQUIRE WITH THE APPLICANT FULLY CONCERNING SELF REPRESENTATION.

The trial judge at the probation hearing failed to properly warn the Petitioner of the dangers of proceeding pro se in his probation violation hearing but merely asked if Petitioner wanted to proceed without counsel. App. pp 26-28. Petitioner requests that this court find that since the probation violation court did not inquire into the defendant's background to understand the dangers of self-representation this Petition for Certiorari be granted. In the case cited in the order of the lower court, the appellate court ruled that amongst several factors affecting the probationers understanding of the dangers of self representation, one factor was that she had signed a probation form that had specific warnings about legal representation. State v. Bryant, 383 S.C. 410, 680 S.E.2d 11 (2009). In the present case, there is no evidence of a document advising the Petitioner about legal representation. A defendant may waive his right to counsel and proceed pro se. State v. McLauren, 349 S.C. 488, 493, 563 S.E.2d 346, 348 (Ct. App. 2002); see also Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 817 (1975) ("[F]orcing a lawyer upon an unwilling defendant is contrary to his basic right to defend himself if he truly wants to do so."). The waiver, however, must be made knowingly and intelligently. McLauren, supra 349 S.C. at 493, 563 S.E.2d at 348. The defendant must be (1) advised of his right to counsel and (2) adequately warned of the dangers of self-representation. Id. at 493, 563 S.E.2d at 348-49. "[T]he record [must] establish [the defendant] knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open." Faretta, supra, 422 U.S. at 835 (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, "[t]he ultimate test of whether a defendant has made a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to counsel is not the [circuit court's] advice, but the defendant's understanding." McLauren, supra 349 S.C. at 493, 563 S.E.2d at 348 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

Petitioner further requests that this court ultimately find that Petitioner was prejudiced by these failure of the probation court since the Petitioner was denied his Sixth Amendment constitutional right to legal representation. Therefore, Petitioner submits that the denial of relief in the case at hand should be reversed and the Application for Post Conviction Relief should be granted.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari in this case. If this Court grants certiorari, Petitioner requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed more fully.