STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

AUG 16 2017

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas (PCR)

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Post-Conviction Relief Judge

James Livingston,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2016-000823

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

There is probative evidence in the record supporting the PCR judge’s ruling denying a claim of ineffective assistance on failure to investigate and discover the fact that the confidential informant for certain offenses was deceased at the time of the plea bargain where the record shows that counsel was preparing another separate case for trial at the time the favorable bargain was struck and the charges involving the confidential informant who was deceased were merely rolled into the favorable plea deal.

The PCR judge credited plea counsel’s testimony that he would not have received the confidential informant’s name for those charges that Petitioner was not then going to trial upon. (App. p. 128; see also p. 97; p. 104). Though Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that he knew who the informant was, he did not testify that he shared that with counsel. (See App. p. 128 n. 3; pp. 55-58; p. 60). However, Petitioner was in line to be tried on the separate trafficking charge. (App. p. 96). The PCR judge found “[c]ounsel had well-founded concerns that Applicant would be convicted during a jury trial” and since “Trafficking carried a far greater sentence exposure than the Distribution charges, Counsel noted that the inclusion of the two counts of Distribution had little practical effect in terms of sentence for Appellant.” (App. p. 128; see also pp. 18-21 and 100). In extra benefit to Petitioner, the judge also considered that the plea bargain included the dismissal of several other pending drug charges....” (App. p. 128; see also pp. 11-12). The

PCR judge reasoned: “Given the benefits of the plea deal, Counsel would have drastically affected his client’s sentence exposure had he insisted on going to trial and having the CI revealed.” (App. pp. 128-129). Further, the judge rejected Petitioner’s contention that if the CI was deceased no evidence of identification would have been available to the State. (App. p. 129). This was especially so where the State had both audio and video surveillance tapes from the two crimes. (App. p. 129; see also pp. 13-14). Moreover, the PCR judge concluded, “even if those two charges were not brought to trial, the other *nol proseed* charges could have been brought to trial.” (App. p. 129). Given these facts, the PCR judge reasoned counsel was not ineffective and Petitioner failed to show he would have refused to the generous plea deal. (App. p. 129).

The PCR judge credited counsel’s testimony, specifically about the protection of the CI name until such charges are to be called to trial, in considering Petitioner’s claim of ineffective assistance. (See App. p. 124 (PCR judge noting opportunity to “closely pass” on witness “credibility and weigh their testimony accordingly.”)). “This Court gives great deference to a PCR judge’s findings where matters of credibility are involved.” *Simuel v. State*, 390 S.C. 267, 270, 701 S.E.2d 738, 739 (2010) (citing *Drayton v. Evatt*, 312 S.C. 4, 11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993)); *Lucero v. State*, 414 S.C. 238, 777 S.E.2d 409 (Ct.App. 2015) (review court will “give great deference to the PCR court’s findings of facts and conclusions of law”) (quoting *Porter v. State*, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006)). Moreover, counsel’s understanding is consistent with case law. See, e.g., *State v. Bernotas*, 277 S.C. 106, 109, 283 S.E.2d 580, 581 (1981) (“the State is privileged to withhold the names of informers” and “... disclosures should only be made when the informer’s identity would be relevant to the accused’s defense.”).

Additionally, Respondent would also submit Petitioner’s failure to share knowledge of

the CI's identity with counsel does not show ineffective assistance where counsel was prevented from otherwise discovering that fact without Petitioner's disclosure. *See Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 691 (1984) ("The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant."). At any rate, it must be again noted that counsel was preparing the trafficking case – not the previous distribution cases – for trial when the plea opportunity occurred. (See App. p. 96).

In sum, though, the record fully supports the PCR judge's ruling. The petition for writ of certiorari should be denied as there is no cause to disturb the well-reasoned and well-supported ruling.

II.

There is probative evidence to support the PCR judge's decision to deny relief on a claim that counsel failed to properly advise on an entrapment defense or other defense where counsel correctly advised the facts of the case would not support the defense.

The PCR judge first reviewed the facts of the crime as recited at the plea, and also considered the Petitioner admitted the accuracy of those facts. (App. pp. 125-126; see also pp. 13-16). He then considered Petitioner's own testimony at the PCR hearing that he declined to sell the drugs at the house as the drugs were not of sufficient quality. Petitioner testified that he was returning the drugs to the CI. (App. p. 126; see also pp. 65-67; p. 69; p. 73; p.92). The PCR judge then considered trial counsel's testimony. The PCR judge found:

Counsel explained that the defense of entrapment would not be successful at trial. One problem with a defense of entrapment in Appellant's case was that when the Informant arrived informant mad his appearance under control of law enforcement officers. Because [Petitioner] had cocaine in his

house, under his dominion and control, prior to the informant approaching him under government surveillance, Counsel rightly had doubt that a jury would believe [Petitioner] had no predisposition to participate in drug activity but for the government inducement.”

(App. p. 127). He considered, in addition, counsel’s testimony he was concerned over Petitioner’s prior history of drug business and the fact that Petitioner had given a statement to investigating officers. (App. p. 127; p. 110 (plea counsel’s testimony concerning he was aware of the issue with drug history and predisposition as well as the fact Petitioner’s statement “would have come up”). Petitioner admitted at the PCR hearing that he gave not just a statement, but “a confession at SLED headquarters admitting that [he] was dealing cocaine.” (App. p. 87).

In light of the totality of these facts, and the case law on the defense of entrapment, (see App. p. 127 citing *U.S. v. McLaurin*, 764 F.3d 372 (4th Cir. 2014), the PCR judge found “Counsel’s assessment of the matter to be reasonable,” that further there was no reasonable probability the defense would likely have been accepted at trial. (App. p. 127).

The PCR judge was correct that there is no need for counsel to advise of a defense that appears unlikely to fit with the facts of the case. (See App. p. 128; see also p. 56 (plea counsel’s testimony at the PCR hearing not only did the facts not fit, the only benefit of the defense was a charge to the jury, and, on these facts, he was not likely to be able to convince a jury to acquit)). See *Arnette v. State*, 306 S.C. 556, 557–58, 413 S.E.2d 803, 804 (1992) (reversing grant of relief finding counsel ineffective in not advising defendant of defense of accident where facts of the case counsel not show the defendant was acting lawfully, and accident defense required a showing defendant was acting lawfully).

As there is probative evidence support the PCR judge’s decision, Petitioner has failed to show certiorari review is warranted. The petition should be denied.

III.

There is probative evidence of record to support the PCR judge's decision to deny relief on a claim that counsel had improperly advised of the possibility of a life without parole sentence when the record shows multiple offense which could have exposed Petitioner to a life sentence without the possibility of parole.

The PCR judge found that counsel's testimony on sentencing was not tied to the service of a notice of intent to seek life without parole, but rather as a global assessment of sentencing options facing Petitioner in light of his multiple drug offenses. (App. p. 129; see also pp. 100, 111 and 114-115 (plea counsel's testimony from the PCR hearing outlining multiple offenses and sentence exposure)). As the PCR judge found, "this was a legitimate concern." (App. p. 129). In fact, Petitioner's own testimony at the PCR hearing indicated his understanding of the possibility of a life sentence was based on his background of multiple drug offenses. (See App. p. 81). Moreover, Petitioner was constrained to admit on cross-examination that he was facing over 90 years on the plea charges, and had other offenses dismissed. (App. pp. 85-86; see also pp. 4-5 and 11-12).

As there is probative evidence support the PCR judge's decision, Petitioner has failed to show certiorari review is warranted. The petition should be denied.

IV.

There is probative evidence of record to support the PCR judge's decision to deny relief on a claim the probation revocation judge failed to advise of the right to counsel when the record shows, in the absence of specific advice, that Petitioner was aware of his right and understood the waiver of same.

The PCR judge agreed that the probation revocation judge's interaction with Petitioner on the question of whether he wished to proceed without counsel was brief. (App. p. 130-131; see also pp. 26-27). However, the probation revocation was "less than one month from his guilty plea," where he had admitted prior involvement with the criminal system, and Petitioner had

admitted sufficient education and understanding of his constitutional rights and the effect of a plea. (App. p. 131). Further still, the PCR judge considered Petitioner's testimony at the PCR hearing that had retained counsel for representation for all of his charges, indicating a specific understanding of his right to counsel. (App. p. 131).

The PCR judge concluded that the record demonstrates a sufficient understanding of the right to counsel. (App. p. 132). *See Salley v. State*, 306 S.C. 213, 215, 410 S.E.2d 921, 922 (1991) ("The requirements for waiving right to counsel in a probation revocation hearing are the same requirements as apply when a defendant desires to waive right to counsel in a trial" and "this Court will look to the record to discern whether there are facts to show the defendant had sufficient background or was apprised of his rights by some other source so as to constitute a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to counsel."); *Bridwell v. State*, 306 S.C. 518, 519, 413 S.E.2d 30, 31 (1992) ("In the absence of a specific inquiry by the trial judge addressing the disadvantages of proceeding *pro se*, this Court will look to the record to determine whether petitioner had sufficient background or was apprised of his rights by some other source.").

Respondent also notes that Petitioner carefully avoided testifying in his direct examination at the PCR hearing as to whether he understood his right to counsel. Instead, he testified that the revocation judge failed to explain his right to counsel, and no one else informed him on the record, not even his probation agent. (See App. pp. 53-54). However, on cross-examination he admitted he understood he could have had an attorney if he had wanted on. (App. p. 90). That is consistent with his background. And, of particular note, Petitioner had retained counsel for his drug plea. (App. p. 90; see also p. 95 (plea counsel confirming Petitioner retained him)). Counsel would likely not have been appointed for an individually who was not indigent.

Lastly, though Petitioner testified he would not have pleaded guilty to the violation without counsel had he been advised of his right to counsel, (see App. p. 85), the assertion is simply not credible. The revocation was based solely on the fact of the counseled plea. (App. p. 132; see also p. 27). Not only was that fact not contested, he received concurrent terms. (App. p. 27 (revocation to run concurrent with “active sentence”). Petitioner wholly failed to show any prejudicial error. *See Weaver v. Massachusetts*, ___ U.S. ___, ___, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1913 (2017) (what would be structural error on direct appeal does not support reversal in collateral proceedings absent proof of prejudice).

At any rate, the PCR judge reasonably found the record supported Petitioner did understand his right to counsel. As there is probative evidence support his decision, Petitioner has failed to show certiorari review is warranted. The petition should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari.